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A Life Safety Code Recertification and 

State Licensure Survey was conducted by 

the Indiana State Department of Health in 

accordance with 42 CFR 483.70(a).

Survey Date:  12/08/14

Facility Number:  000048

Provider Number:  155115

AIM Number:  100275330

Surveyor:  Mark Caraher, Life Safety 

Code Specialist

At this Life Safety Code survey, Cardinal 

Nursing and Rehabilitation Center was 

found not in compliance with 

Requirements for Participation in 

Medicare/Medicaid, 42 CFR Subpart 

483.70(a), Life Safety from Fire and the 

2000 edition of the National Fire 

Protection Association (NFPA)  101, Life 

Safety Code (LSC), Chapter 19, Existing 

Health Care Occupancies and 410 IAC 

16.2.

This three story facility with a basement 

was determined to be of Type II (111) 

construction with a one story addition 

determined to be of Type V (111) 

construction and both were fully 

sprinklered except for the housekeeping 

K010000 The creation and submission of 

this plan of correction does not 

constitute an admission by this 

provider of any conclusion set 

forth in the statement of 

deficiencies, or of any violation of 

regulation.

Due to the relative low scope and 

severity of this survey, the facility 

respectfully requests a desk 

review in lieu of a post-survey 

revisit on or after January 7, 

2015.
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closet in the kitchen.  The facility has a 

fire alarm system with smoke detection 

on all levels in the corridors and in all 

areas open to the corridor.  The facility 

has battery operated smoke detectors in 

all resident sleeping rooms.  The facility 

has a capacity of 144 and had a census of 

108 at the time of this visit.

All areas where residents have customary 

access were sprinklered and all areas 

providing facility services were 

spinklered except for the housekeeping 

closet in the kitchen and one detached 

storage shed.

Quality Review by Dennis Austill, Life 

Safety Code Specialist on 12/09/14.

The facility was found not in compliance 

with the aforementioned regulatory 

requirements as evidenced by the 

following:

NFPA 101 

LIFE SAFETY CODE STANDARD 

Exit access is arranged so that exits are 

readily accessible at all times in accordance 

with section 7.1.     19.2.1

K010038

SS=E

Based on observation and interview, the 

facility failed to ensure 1 of 4 exit 

accesses was provided with handrail.  

LSC 7.2.2.4.2 requires stairs and ramps 

K010038 It is the policy of this facility that 

exit access is arranged so that 

exits are readily accessible at all 

times in accordance with section 

7.1  19.2.1.  What corrective 

01/07/2015  12:00:00AM

FORM CMS-2567(02-99) Previous Versions Obsolete Event ID: 610C21 Facility ID: 000048 If continuation sheet Page 2 of 7



(X1) PROVIDER/SUPPLIER/CLIA

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES

CENTERS FOR MEDICARE & MEDICAID SERVICES

01/07/2015PRINTED:

FORM APPROVED

OMB NO. 0938-0391

STATEMENT OF DEFICIENCIES

AND PLAN OF CORRECTION  IDENTIFICATION NUMBER:

(X2) MULTIPLE CONSTRUCTION

A. BUILDING

B. WING

(X3) DATE SURVEY

       COMPLETED

NAME OF PROVIDER OR SUPPLIER
STREET ADDRESS, CITY, STATE, ZIP CODE

(X4) ID

PREFIX

TAG

SUMMARY STATEMENT OF DEFICIENCIES

(EACH DEFICIENCY MUST BE PRECEDED BY FULL

REGULATORY OR LSC IDENTIFYING INFORMATION)

PREFIX

TAG

 ID
PROVIDER'S PLAN OF CORRECTION

(EACH CORRECTIVE ACTION SHOULD BE

DEFICIENCY)

(X5)

COMPLETION

DATE
CROSS-REFERENCED TO THE APPROPRIATE

SOUTH BEND, IN 46617

155115 12/08/2014

CARDINAL NURSING AND REHABILITATION CENTER

1121 E LASALLE AVE

01

shall have handrails on both sides.  In 

addition, handrails shall be provided 

within 30 inches of all portions of the 

required egress width of stairs.  The 

required egress width shall be provided 

along the natural path.  Exception No 3:  

Existing stairs, existing ramps, stairs 

within dwelling units and within guest 

rooms, and ramps within dwelling units 

and guest rooms shall be permitted to 

have a handrail on one side only.  This 

deficient practice could affect 16 

residents, staff and visitors if needing to 

exit the building by Room 130.  

Findings include:

Based on observation with the Executive 

Director and the Maintenance Director 

during a tour of the facility from 11:45 

a.m. to 2:35 p.m. on 12/08/14, the exit 

discharge by Room 130 to the exterior of 

the building and to the public way had six 

stair steps in the path of egress and was 

not provided with a handrail.  Based on 

an interview at the time of observation, 

the Executive Director and the 

Maintenance Director acknowledged the 

aforementioned exit discharge was not 

provided with a handrail for the stairs. 

3.1-19(b)

action (s) will be accomplished for 

those residents found to have 

been affected by the deficient 

practice: A.  A hand rail has been 

installed on the 6 steps on the 

exterior of the property outside 

the exit discharge door by Room 

130.  How other residents having 

the potential to be affected by the 

same deficient practice will be 

identified and what corrective 

action (s) will be taken:The 

alleged deficient practice had the 

potential to affect 16 residents 

that reside on that unit.  The 

Maintenance Director and/or 

designee physically inspected 

egress exits throughout the 

facility and has ensured that all 

exterior stairs are equipped with 

handrails.  What measures will be 

put into place or what systemic 

changes will be made to ensure 

that the deficient practice does 

not recur:A handrail has been 

installed on the 6 steps on the 

exterior of the property outside 

the exit discharge door by Room 

130.  The Maintenance 

Director/designee will inspect all 

future projects in which stairs are 

added to ensure that they are 

equipped with handrails in 

accordance with section 7.1  

19.2.1.How the corrective action 

(s) will be monitored to ensure the 

deficient practice will not recur, 

i.e., what quality assurance 

program will be put into place:A 

handrail has been installed on the 

6 steps on the exterior of the 

property outside the exit 
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discharge door by Room 130.  

By what date the systemic changes 

will be completed:

Compliance Date:  12/26/2014

NFPA 101 

LIFE SAFETY CODE STANDARD 

If there is an automatic sprinkler system, it is 

installed in accordance with NFPA 13, 

Standard for the Installation of Sprinkler 

Systems, to provide complete coverage for 

all portions of the building.  The system is 

properly maintained in accordance with 

NFPA 25, Standard for the Inspection, 

Testing, and Maintenance of Water-Based 

Fire Protection Systems.  It is fully 

supervised.  There is a reliable, adequate 

water supply for the system.  Required 

sprinkler systems are equipped with water 

flow and tamper switches, which are 

electrically connected to the building fire 

alarm system.     19.3.5

K010056

SS=D

Based on observation and interview, the 

facility failed to ensure 1 of 1 sprinkler 

systems was installed in accordance with 

the requirements of NFPA 13, Standard 

for the Installation of Sprinkler Systems.  

NFPA 13, 1999 edition, Section 5-6.5 

states sprinklers shall be located so as to 

minimize obstructions to discharge as 

defined in 5-6.5.2 and 5-6.5.3 or 

additional sprinklers shall be provided to 

ensure adequate coverage of the hazard.  

This deficient practice could affect 5 

kitchen staff.

Findings include:

K010056 It is the policy of this facility that 

the facility sprinkler system 

provide complete coverage for all 

portions of the facility.  What 

corrective action (s) will be 

accomplished for those residents 

found to have been affected by 

the deficient practice: The 

housekeeping closet in the 

kitchen was provided a sprinkler 

head.  How other residents 

having the potential to be affected 

by the same deficient practice will 

be identified and what corrective 

action (s) will be taken:The 

alleged deficient practice had the 

potential to affect any staff 

member using the housekeeping 

closet in the kitchen.  The 

Maintenance Director and/or 

01/07/2015  12:00:00AM
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Based on observation with the Executive 

Director and the Maintenance Director 

during a tour of the facility from 11:45 

a.m. to 2:35 p.m. on 12/08/14, the 

housekeeping closet in the kitchen was 

not provided with a sprinkler.  Two walls 

of the closet extended from the floor to 

within six inches of the ceiling which 

blocked the spray pattern of the nearest 

ceiling mounted pendant sprinkler.  

Based on interview at the time of 

observation, the Executive Director and 

the Maintenance Director acknowledged 

the housekeeping closet in the kitchen 

was not provided with a sprinkler. 

3.1-19(b)

3.1-19(ff)

designee inspected every 

sprinkler throughout the facility 

and validated that all sprinkler 

heads are located so as to 

minimize obstructions to 

discharge as defined in 5-6.5.2 

and 5-6.5.3.  What measures will 

be put into place or what systemic 

changes will be made to ensure 

that the deficient practice does 

not recur:Not less than monthly, 

the Maintenance Director and/or 

designee shall inspect every 

room throughout the facility to 

ensure that they are equipped 

with sprinkler heads in 

accordance with 5-6.5.2 and 

5-6.5.3.  How the corrective 

action (s) will be monitored to 

ensure the deficient practice will 

not recur, i.e., what quality 

assurance program will be put 

into place:The sprinkler head was 

installed in the housekeeping 

closet in the kitchen.  The 

Maintenance Director/designee 

will inspect all areas after 

construction projects to ensure 

that the area provides a sprinkler 

in accordance with 5-6.5.2 and 

5-6.5.3.  

By what date the systemic changes 

will be completed:

Compliance Date:  12/29/2014

NFPA 101 

LIFE SAFETY CODE STANDARD 

Electrical wiring and equipment is in 

accordance with NFPA 70,  National 

Electrical Code. 9.1.2

K010147

SS=E

Based on observation and interview, the 

facility failed to ensure 1 of 1 extension 

K010147 It is the policy of this facility that 

electrical wiring and equipment 

01/07/2015  12:00:00AM
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cords including power strips were not 

used as a substitute for fixed wiring.  

NFPA 70, Article 400-8 requires, unless 

specifically permitted, flexible cords and 

cables shall not be used as a substitute for 

fixed wiring of a structure.  This deficient 

practice could affect 8 residents, staff and 

visitors in the vicinity of the Laundry 

Services room on the first floor.

Findings include:

Based on observation with the Executive 

Director and the Maintenance Director 

during a tour of the facility from 11:45 

a.m. to 2:35 p.m. on 12/08/14, a 

refrigerator was plugged into a power 

strip in the Laundry Services room on the 

first floor.  Based on interview at the time 

of observation, the Executive Director 

acknowledged a power strip was being 

used as a substitute for fixed wiring in 

the first floor Laundry Services room.

3.1-19(b)

comply with all federal, state and 

local codes and ordinances. 

What corrective action (s) will be 

accomplished for those resident 

found to have been affected by the 

deficient practice:

A.      The refrigerator that was 

allegedly plugged into the power 

strip in the Laundry Services room 

on the First Floor was plugged into 

the wall in the same room.  The 

power strip was removed from the 

Laundry Services room. 

How other residents having the 

potential to be affected by the same 

deficient practice will be identified 

and what corrective action (s) will be 

taken:

The alleged deficient practice had 

the potential to affect the staff that 

utilize the Laundry Services room on 

the First Floor. 

The Maintenance Director and/or 

designee inspected each room 

throughout  the facility and ensured 

that there were no refrigerators 

plugged into power strips and that 

any potential wiring issue or concern 

was corrected according to code 

requirements.

What measures will be put into 

place or what systemic changes will 

be made to ensure that the deficient 

practice does not recur:

A mandatory in-service for general 

staff will be conducted on or before 

01/07/2015 by the ED/Maintenance 

Director/designee to educate them 

on our policy in regards to power 

strips. 
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Housekeeping staff and/or 

maintenance personnel will check 

throughout the facility not less than 

weekly to ensure that refrigerators 

are not plugged into power strips.  

Any infractions will be corrected 

immediately and reported to the ED 

for follow-up. 

How the corrective action (s) will be 

monitored to ensure the deficient 

practice will not recur, i.e., what 

quality assurance program will be 

put into place:

The Maintenance Director/designee 

will be responsible for completing 

the CQI Audit Tool titled, “Wiring 

and Electrical Compliance” weekly 

for 4 weeks and then monthly for six 

months.  This audit will be reviewed 

by the ED.  If a threshold of 100% is 

not met, action plan (s) will be 

developed.  Findings will be 

submitted to the CQI Committee for 

review and follow up. 

By what date the systemic changes 

will be completed:

Compliance Date:  01/07/2015
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